STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PAULA REED ROSE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-002445

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 05 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for arson third degree, making a false insurance claim to obtain benefits for fire or explosion loss, burning personal property to defraud an insurer, and filing a false police report when the only evidence tending to show that Appellant started the two fires at her home was: that the clothing she wore on the morning of the fire and one slipper found in her master bedroom tested positive for trace elements of gasoline, which was also found on charred wood samples taken from the front porch; that police felt Appellant was not sufficiently distraught about the attempted burglary and fire when interviewed several hours after the fire was extinguished and; that police believed hatchet marks on Appellant's steel gun safe in her garage were "too slight" to have been made by a man attempting to break into the safe.

II.

The trial court committed reversible error by allowing Investigator Ben Cannon to testify as an expert in the "origin and cause of fires" when the State failed to demonstrate that Cannon had the necessary education, expertise, training, and experience to give opinion testimony.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 19, 2013 the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Paula Rose for making a false insurance claim to obtain benefits for fire or explosion loss; burning personal property to defraud an insurer; filing a false police report; and third degree arson. R. 1075.

On May 5-8, 2014, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Lawton MacIntosh and a jury. R. 1. John P. "Jack" Riordan represented Appellant. Assistant Attorney Generals Kinli Bare Abee and Joshua R. Underwood represented the State.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 1006, ll. 4-17. The trial court sentenced Appellant to: one year of home incarceration with five years of probation for burning personal property to defraud an insurer; ten years of incarceration suspended upon the service of five years of home incarceration and five years of probation for arson in the third degree; one year of incarceration suspended on the service of five years of probation for filing a false police report; and one year of incarceration suspended on the service of five years of probation for making a false insurance claim to obtain benefits for fire or explosion loss. R. 1021, l. 25 - 1023, l. 22.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At 8:05 a.m. on July 27, 2012, Appellant called Greenville County 911 in a panic to report that three men were attempting to break into a gun safe in her garage. R. 314, ll. 15-24. Two were wearing ski masks, the third was bald. Appellant's house is located in a rural section of Greenville County and is surrounded by thick woods. R. 271, l. 9 - 274, l. 4.

Appellant first saw the men while standing in her kitchen. Initially, she tried to call 911 with her home phone. It was disconnected; the phone lines had been cut. She then fled into the master bedroom and called 911 from her cell phone. R. 365, l. 367, l. 10. She quickly armed herself with a pistol and shotgun and changed out of her night gown and bath robe. *Id.*

While hiding in the bedroom, Appellant heard "two bangs and then crackling." *Id.* She then looked out the front window of her bedroom but could not see anything. Still armed, she opened her bedroom door. One of her cats ran out of the room. *Id.* She chased the cat into the family room and discovered that the burglars had set fire to the back porch, the sunroom (which connected to both the garage and the main house) and to the front door and front porch. *Id.*

The burglars were gone. Appellant chased the cat upstairs, but was driven back by the increasing amount of smoke. *Id.* The 911 operator then told Appellant to leave her pets and get out of the house. *Id.*

At around 8:30 a.m., Benjamin Temple was driving past Appellant's house on his way to work. R. 271, l. 14 - 274, l. 14. Through the thick woods around Appellant's home, he saw heavy smoke coming from the eaves of the house and pulled past the open gate leading into the driveway. Appellant came running out on to the burning front porch, waving her hands for help. R. 271, l. 11 - 275, l. 8.

Temple would recall that Appellant was greatly distressed about her dogs, whom she believed had fled upstairs. *Id.* Appellant begged to Temple to rescue them. Temple, observing the growing conflagration engulfing the rear of the house, declined, but he was able to get a hysterical Appellant to confirm that there were no other people in the house. *Id.*

Only minutes after Temple arrived, firefighters pulled up to the residence. Greenville County Firefighter Lt. Douglas Proffitt was the first to enter Appellant's house. R. 290, l. 5 - 291, l. 21. Proffitt quickly "sized up the fire". *Id.* The fire on the front porch was still smoldering, but had "mostly burned itself out." R. 290, l. 7-18. In contrast, the fire on the back porch and sunroom was still growing, encroaching into the kitchen and living room; causing smoke to bellow through the front door. R. 291, l. 5 - 293, l. 12.

Proffitt spoke with Appellant who begged the firefighters to save her trapped dogs and cats. R. 301, ll. 4-18. Appellant was covered in soot and had been standing around the front porch fire. R. 302, ll. 3-24. Proffitt recalled that he and the other firefighters were worried because Appellant had a pistol tucked into her waistband. R. 303, l. 4 - 304, l. 21.

In the process of "pushing" the back porch and sunroom fire out of the interior of the house, firefighters stumbled upon two of Appellant's dog in the thick smoke and dragged them to safety. *Id.* Appellant was ecstatic, profusely thanking the firefighters and hugging both dogs, who were covered in fire debris and soot. *Id.*

Greenville County Deputy James Henderson was the first law enforcement officer to arrive at the scene. R. 323, l. 17 - 324, l. 21. He reached Appellant's house at around 8:50 a.m. right behind the firefighters. *Id.* Appellant told Henderson that she did not know if the burglars were still around, but begged him to rescue her pets. R. 325, l. 3 - 326, l. 22.

Henderson searched the property and concluded that the burglars had fled. *Id.* He testified Appellant hugged and comforted her animals after the firefighters pulled them out of the fire. R. 326, l. 18 - 327, l. 12. Fortunately, all six of Appellant's pets (3 cats, 3 dogs) survived the fire.

Henderson found a small shoe print near the open gate leading from Appellant's backyard to the surrounding woods. R. 327, l. 13 - 329, l. 6. A K-9 office also arrived at the scene, but the tracking dog was not deployed because the area was too contaminated with different scents from the fire and the emergency responders. R. 344, l. 14 - 346, l. 20.

Initial Police Investigation and First Search of Appellant's Home

Investigator Randy Morgan, with the Greenville County Sheriff's property crimes division, arrived at Appellant's house shortly after the fire was extinguished. R. 353, l. 18 - 354, l. 14. Appellant told him that she discovered the burglars after she walked to the door leading from the kitchen to the garage to figure out why her dogs were barking. R. 355, ll. 5-21.

When she looked out kitchen door's window, she saw three men attempting to open her safe by manipulating the dial. *Id.* Morgan determined that the burglars never gained access to the safe. *Id.* at 8-22. The garage door closest to the gun safe was open on the morning of the attempted burglary and Appellant's car was being repaired, so no vehicle was present. R. 359, l. 5 - 360, l. 25.

After his preliminary discussion with Appellant and inspection of the home, Morgan, Appellant, and Appellant's husband, State Trooper Homer Rose, agreed to meet at the police station after Appellant changed clothes, ate, and showered. R. 361, l. 18 - 362, l. 16. Morgan wanted to "give her time to think about the incident so if she had mighta left out some details with the chaos." R. 362, ll. 19-21.

Morgan continued to inspect the fire scene. On the front porch there was a red, plastic gasoline can near a burned dog bed. R. 444, l. 23 - 445, l. 7. Appellant identified the gasoline can as one they owned. *Id.* Next to the back porch, there was a melted yellow, plastic gasoline can that Appellant did not recognize. R. 376, l. 14 - 377, l. 18. Although melted, this plastic container appeared to Morgan to be newly purchased. R. 398, l. 8 - 399, l. 7. The lid for the yellow can was found near the back porch unburned. *Id.* The lid was never tested for fingerprints. *Id.*

Appellant and her husband, Homer, believed that the front gate on their driveway was closed after Homer left for work earlier that morning. *Id.* Appellant and her husband were unsure if the gate in the backyard had been closed before the fire. *Id.* Asked who knew the combination to the gun safe, Homer replied that his ex-wife did and that she believed that Appellant and Homer had an affair while she was still married to him. R. 453, l. 17 - 456, l. 23.

Near the red, plastic gasoline can on the front porch were two clear latex gloves. R. 467, l. 3 - 470, l. 9. Near the back porch there was a partially burned white latex glove of a different make than those in the front yard. *Id.* All three were taken into evidence.

Morgan also found a small hatchet next to the safe that he believed had been used to make a dent next to the dial in the steel gun safe. R. 372, ll. 2-24. No fingerprints were found on the hatchet. R. 832, ll. 3-8. However, paint chips found on it matched the paint on the safe. R. 711, l. 9 - 712, l. 2.

Police also recovered an inexpensive Samsung DROID X cell phone in the grass next to the road outside of Appellant's house, as well as, a plastic bag from Lowe's Home improvement. R. 465, l. 19 - 466, l. 11. Both items were taken into evidence, but neither was tested for prints or otherwise inspected. *Id.*

One of the responding deputies located two shoe unknown impressions in the front yard. R. 398, ll. 1-16. Morgan noted the shoe impressions in his incident report, but no photographs were taken of the impressions. *Id.* Finally, Morgan briefly canvassed Appellant's rural neighborhood. R. 401, l. 9 - 402, l. 19. One neighbor reported that a red pick-up truck with an empty utility trailer had been parked at a barber shop that abutted the woods behind Appellant's house at around 6:30 on the morning of the attempted burglary. *Id.*

The neighbor assumed that the barber shop's owner had hired a landscaping crew. *Id.* The barber shop owner told police that he when he arrived at his business around 7:45 a.m. there was no truck. Furthermore, he had not hired anyone to do landscaping at the business. *Id.*

Several days after the fire, Morgan visited the two nearest Lowe's locations in an effort to see if anyone had recently bought the yellow gas can found by the back porch. R. 444, l. 17 - 450, l. 18. He had the stores pull sales records from ten days before the fire. Two individuals had purchased such cans, one at each store. One man, "older white haired gentlemen" who had used a credit card from a business called Buckeye Construction. R. 446, l. 11 - 447, l. 17.

The other was a "small-framed" white man using a credit card with the name Jeff Aughtry. R. 449, ll. 2-18. Despite two of the three burglars wearing ski-masks, Morgan dismissed these two men as "not meeting the description" of the suspects. R. 447, l. 14 - 448, l. 21; R. 450, ll. 12-18. He never contacted either the construction company or Aughtry and did not request any of the video footage of their purchases or receipts from the stores. *Id.*

Morgan's Meeting with Appellant

In her meeting with Investigator Morgan, several hours after the fire was extinguished and all of her pets were safe, Appellant reiterated that three men attempted to break into or unlock the gun safe located in her garage. R. 365, ll. 1-19. She saw them and they saw her. She

grabbed the nearest dog and fled to the master bedroom on the other side of the house once she realized the phone lines had been cut. R. 365, ll. 1-23.

During the interview, Appellant recalled that she kept waiting to her glass break, signaling that the burglars had entered the house. *Id.* Instead, she heard “two large bangs” coming from the garage. *Id.* She looked out the front window of her bedroom, which faced the road, but did not see anyone. R. 364, l. 1 - 423, l. 5.

A short time later she heard a crackling noise. *Id.* She opened the bedroom door and a cat ran out. She chased the cat and, for the first time, realized that her house had been set on fire. R. 366, l. 2 - 367, l. 10. She chased the cat upstairs, but had to turn back because of the smoke. *Id.* At that point the 911 operator told her to get out of the house.

At trial, Morgan testified that, until this interview, Appellant had been treated as a victim. R. 362, ll. 12-16. During the interview, Morgan believed that Appellant - whom he had only hours earlier advised to shower, change clothes, get something to eat, and take some time to calm down - was simply “too calm” and showed “no emotion whatsoever.” R. 367, l. 20 - 368, l. 7.

In his experience, victims of property crimes, “normally they’re very shaken, uh, very upset. Uh, that the the one word that comes all the time is ‘violated,’ somebody has entered their space, somethin’ that’s sacred to them and somebody has violated that space.” *Id.* (*verbatim*). Appellant’s calm demeanor did not meet his expectations.

Coincidentally, during this interview Appellant first told Morgan about her tumultuous divorce from the brother of a senior Oconee county sheriff’s investigator six years earlier. R. 408, l. 13 - 418, l. 14. Appellant explained that her first husband was physically abusive. R. 190, l. 16 - 199, l. 3. During the divorce proceedings, Appellant was arrested for: second degree

burglary, grand larceny, filing a false police report, making a false statement to for insurance proceeds, harassment, and unlawful use of a telephone. *Id.*; *see also* R. 405, l. 23 - 409, l. 3.

As a result of those charges, she temporarily lost custody of her son. *Id.* She stood trial and was acquitted of harassment, second degree burglary, and grand larceny. The remaining charged were dismissed. *Id.* She then successfully sued Oconee County under 42 U.S.C § 1983, resulting in a three hundred thousand dollar settlement. *Id.*

At trial, Morgan expressed deep skepticism regarding Appellant's Oconee County claims. He ran a background check that confirmed the not guilty verdicts and dismissals, but did not otherwise investigate the matter. R. 408, l. 13 - 418, l. 14. Instead of crediting Appellant's explanation, Morgan found it odd that she had not tried to have the charges expunged from her record. R. 406, ll. 3- 6.

He also noted that Appellant spoke much more passionately about her Oconee County travails than she did about the fire at her house. R. 415, ll. 3-15. Appellant also told him she was writing a self-published book about her experience. R. 473, l. 25 - 474, l. 6.

Morgan claimed that he never spoke with Oconee County law enforcement about Appellant. R. 418, l. 13 - 428, l. 14. He found no connection between the fire and the Oconee County matters. *Id.*; *see also* R. 472, ll. 4-25. He averred that her record of acquittals and dropped charges had no impact on his investigation. *Id.* Shortly after concluding his meeting with Appellant, Morgan met with Greenville County arson investigators Ben Cannon and Charles Gonzales to compare notes.

Arson Investigation

Ben Cannon and Charles Gonzales were the two arson investigators assigned to Appellant's case, they were Greenville County's only arson investigators at the time. R. 478, ll.

1-9. Gonzales arrived at Appellant's house around 10:00 a.m. with an accelerant detection dog. R. 482, l. 25 - 485, l. 5. Firefighters had already extinguished both the front and back fires. R. 485, l. 20 - 486, l. 23.

Gonzales led an accelerant detection dog around the outside of the home, they ran into Appellant in the back yard. *Id.* Likely to provide better a description of the burglars, Appellant asked Gonzales how tall he was. *Id.* At trial, Gonzales claimed that he found this question suspicious. *Id.*

Gonzales led the dog to the front porch and collected samples of charred wood where the dog "alerted" to the possible presence of ignitable liquids. R. 488, l. 7 - 494, l. 5. Gonzales collected additional samples from the back porch where the accelerant detection dog had also identified the presence of ignitable liquids. *Id.*

Gonzales did not interview Appellant and never spoke with the other witnesses to the fire such as Deputy Henderson or Ben Temple. Gonzales also never spoke with the firefighters extinguished the fire as he likes "to for my opinion on cause of the fire versus what they tell me." R. 574, ll. 1-24.

Investigator Ben Cannon, the lead arson investigator, briefly interviewed Appellant at her home that morning. R. 809, l. 17 - 830, l. 11. Cannon would claim that Appellant was "relatively calm" and was able to coherently answer his questions. R. 811, ll. 15-22. Cannon briefly chatted with the fire chief who had just arrived in time to supervise the last minutes of fire fighting. *Id.* Police released the house to SERVPRO at 12:20 p.m. They immediately began to document the damage and to prepare to clear the house of debris. R. 903, l. 18 - 904, l. 14.

Meeting between Investigator Cannon, Investigator Gonzales, and Investigator Morgan

The investigators met later that afternoon to compare notes. R. 368, l. 1 - 370, l. 6. Morgan retrieved Appellant's criminal record before the meeting. In their collective opinion, Appellant's demeanor was inappropriate for a stay-at-home wife who had just experienced an attempted burglary and arson. *Id.*

She had simply been too calm in comparison to her obvious passion when talking about her Oconee County problems and her hatred of that Sheriff's Department and SLED. R. 415, l. 3 - 417, l. 23. That Morgan had recorded in his incident report that Appellant was "upset and worried about her pets," even after the fire had been extinguished and the pets had recovered was either ignored or dismissed. R. 396, ll. 4-17. As none of the investigators interviewed the firefighters who extinguished the fire, they were likely also unaware that the firefighters had found Appellant frantic about the safety her animals. R. 299, l. 10 - 300, l. 10; *see also* R. 303, l. 16 - 304, l. 21.

Nevertheless, the men concluded that Appellant had been entirely too calm in recounting the attempted burglary. R. 368, l. 1 - 370, l. 6. Cannon testified at trial that the group also concluded that the marks on the gun safe, near the dial, were superficial and that a man using a small hatchet would have caused more damage to Appellant's steel gun safe. R. 819, l. 13 - 820, l. 10. The marks location, near the dial, suggested to him that they were made by a short man or a woman. *Id.*

The investigators also believed it was odd that the fires had been started on the wooden front porch, the vinyl-sided sunroom, and the wooden back porch. *Id.* They contended that a true concealment fire, one meant to destroy evidence of the attempted burglary, should have been started in the garage despite it having a concrete floor. *Id.* Overlooked by their analysis was the

fact that, had it continued to spread, the fires would have blocked all the exterior doors of the house, effectively trapping Appellant and her pets inside her burning home.

Finally, Cannon alleged that he found inconsistencies in Appellant's version of events:

[T]he main thing, uh, that I noticed was in the beginnin' of the statement of the [911] call. She said there were three men threatening her trying to get her to open the safe, uh, and what that means to me is someone is actively threaten me tyin' to get me to open the safe exactly what it said, uh, and that's that's mentioned nowhere any any statements that I've seen about this case.

R. 829, l. 23 - 830, l. 4 [*verbatim*]. Cannon's interpretation did not explain why three burglars "actively threatening" Appellant would allow her to call 911. R. 829, l. 23 - 830, l. 4. Cannon also felt Appellant should have been able to see if the section of the front porch around her front door was on fire when she looked out the front window of her master bedroom at the opposite end of the house. R. 830, ll. 5-19.

After roughly six hours of work on the case, the investigators had concluded that this incident was most likely not an attempted burglary, but rather a scheme by Appellant to - for reasons unknown - burn her own home down. The three investigators returned to Appellant's home at around 5:11 p.m., almost five hours after SERVPRO had begun recovery work. R. 79, l. 7 - 80, l. 13.

Search of Appellant's Home

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