ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002445

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

PAULA ROSE,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III.  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

As a threshold matter, to the extent that Appellant argues Investigator Gonzalez's investigation was insufficient for failure to comply with various guidelines published by the National Fire Protection Association, these arguments were not raised at trial and are unpreserved for appellate review. An argument not raised and ruled on by the trial court is not preserved for appeal. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118 (1997).

A witness can properly be qualified as an expert where, "the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury's good judgment and common knowledge." State v. Henry, 329 S.C. 266, 273, 495 S.E.2d 463, 467 (Ct. App. 1998). In determining whether a witness's knowledge, skill, training, or experience qualifies the witness as an expert, no mandatory set of

qualifications is required. Henry, 329 S.C. at 274, 495 S.E.2d at 467; see State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 554-55, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996) (“The criteria for admitting the testimony of an expert is not whether the expert holds a degree in the specialty field he seeks to testify about, but whether he has such expertise in a business, profession, or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony.”). Instead, an expert can become sufficiently skilled or knowledgeable to be able to provide an opinion helpful to the jury in a multitude of ways. Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 556, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86 (2008). Significantly, “[t]he test for qualification [as an expert] is a relative one that is dependent on the particular witness’s reference to the subject[,]” and “defects in the amount and quality of education and experience go to the weight of the expert’s testimony and not its admissibility.” Lee v. Suess, 318 S.C. 283, 285-286, 457 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1995).

Appellant’s argument concerning Investigator Gonzalez is erroneously rooted in the fact that he and Misty completed training only three months prior to the fire. First, Investigator Gonzalez’s experience at the time of the fire is irrelevant as to whether he was properly qualified as an expert witness. The critical inquiry is whether Investigator Gonzalez had the requisite experience at the time of trial. Investigator Gonzalez’s trial testimony clearly established he had the necessary knowledge, skill, training, and experience to qualify as an expert. At the time of trial, Investigator Gonzalez had been employed in law enforcement for an impressive twenty-one years and had been employed in the criminal investigations division of the Greenville County Sheriff’s Department since 2005. As to Investigator Gonzalez’s partnership with Misty, Investigator Gonzalez and Misty completed a six week accelerant dog training course in New Market, Alabama. Investigator Gonzalez also completed further training with the state Fire Marshall’s Office in Austin, Texas and received a certification from that program. Investigator

Gonzalez and Misty go through a rigorous annual certification process through the North American Police Work Dog Association where any false alerts prohibit them from receiving their certification. At the time of trial, Investigator Gonzalez had investigated one hundred-forty-two fire scenes together. Misty maintained a **perfect record** through all of those fire scenes, never falsely alerting to the presence of accelerant.

All the above demonstrates Investigator Gonzalez possessed more than adequate educational and occupational credentials to give him knowledge and insight far beyond the ken of the average lay juror. All of Appellant's criticisms of Investigator Gonzalez's credentials and the investigation itself go towards the weight of his testimony and not its admissibility. Cf. Henry, 329 S.C. at 277-78, 495 S.E.2d at 468-69 ("The challenge mounted by Henry blithely ignores the recognized principle of law that a witness is competent as an expert provided the witness has acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a business, profession, or science that **she is better qualified than the jury** to form an opinion on the particular subject of testimony." (emphasis added)); State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 554, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding no error in the trial judge's qualification of a witness as an expert in sound where the witness had over five years of law enforcement experience, was trained by another officer who was certified in the use of sound meter equipment, was capable of demonstrating how a sound level meter worked, and had handled approximately ten cases during the one-and-a-half years he had been conducting sound tests). The trial judge, thus, properly qualified Investigator Gonzalez as an expert in the handling of accelerant detection canines.

**The State Presented Sufficient Evidence that Misty's Alert to the Presence of Accelerant on Appellant's Shoes was Reliable**

Initially, The State would note Appellant's argument concerning the reliability of Misty to detect accelerant on Appellant's slippers is not preserved for appellate review. Defense

Counsel's arguments concerning reliability at trial were vague, rambling, and difficult to understand. These arguments were confusing, non-specific and insufficient to preserve the issue for appellate review, as it is impossible to understand exactly what Appellant was arguing below. See State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55, 59 (2011) ("An objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error."); State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 481, 716 S.E.2d 91, 95 (2011) ("An objection must be made on a specific ground."); State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 652 S.E.2d 409 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding a broad generic objection not sufficient to preserve issue for review on appeal); State v. Varvil, 338 S.C. 335, 340, 526 S.E.2d 248, 251 (Ct. App. 2000) (finding [a] general objection is ordinarily insufficient to preserve an issue for appeal). As noted earlier, Appellant's arguments concerning the National Fire Protection Association guidelines are not preserved, as there was no argument raised concerning the guidelines at trial.

Additionally, in Appellant's issue statement, she argues the trial judge erred in admitting evidence of Misty's alert, as well as the subsequent test results. However, Appellant makes no argument whatsoever in the body of her brief concerning the admissibility of the test results. Appellant's "argument" regarding the admissibility of the test results is therefore conclusory and waived for appellate review. Appellate courts will not consider arguments or issues raised on appeal in a conclusory or unsupported manner. Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard, 400 S.C. 246, 252, n. 3, 734 S.E.2d 161, 164 (2012). See also State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 67, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding a conclusory, unsupported argument was abandoned on appeal). This Court should, therefore, disregard Appellant's conclusory statements concerning the admissibility of the test results confirming the presence of accelerant on Appellant's slippers.

Error preservation concerns notwithstanding, Misty's alert to the presence of accelerant on Appellant's shoes was reliable. While Appellant looks at the issue of reliability through the lens of the South Carolina Supreme Court's opinion in State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), the White factors were formulated specifically for dog tracking evidence. Due to the inherent differences between dog tracking and accelerant detection, the evidentiary framework from White is not directly applicable in the current case. White is, however, instructive concerning the criteria the Court should use regarding Misty's reliability. In White, White conceded the qualifications of the dog handler, Officer Gunter; however, he asserted the dog tracking evidence in the case was unreliable. Id. at 271. In finding the evidence reliable, the Court found:

Beyond Officer Gunter's extensive training and experience, there was ample evidence concerning the training and reliability of the dog, Aurie. Aurie is a German shepherd that descended from a bloodline of known police and military working dogs. Through testing, Aurie has been certified in several areas of tracking, yet Aurie's strongest skill is tracking people. Officer Gunter and Aurie, as of the trial, had been "partners" in excess of seven years and had accomplished approximately 750 tracks together. The finding of reliability is well supported by the record, and we find no abuse of discretion in the admission of the dog tracking evidence.

Id.

Similarly, in Florida v. Harris, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1050 (2013), the United States Supreme Court examined the reliability of drug detection dogs in a probable cause context. The Florida Supreme Court created a strict evidentiary check-list, whose every item the State had to satisfy, in order to establish reliability. Id. at 1056. Under the Florida Supreme Court's decision, an alert could not establish probable cause unless the State introduced comprehensive documentation of the dog's prior "hits" and "misses." Id. In overturning the decision of the Florida Supreme Court, the Court noted:

[E]vidence of a dog's satisfactory performance in a certification or training program can itself provide sufficient reason to trust his alert. If a bona fide organization has certified a dog after testing his reliability in a controlled setting, a court can presume (subject to any conflicting evidence offered) that the dog's alert provides probable cause to search. The same is true, even in the absence of formal certification, if the dog has recently and successfully completed a training program that evaluated his proficiency in locating drugs. After all, law enforcement units have their own strong incentive to use effective training and certification programs, because only accurate drug-detection dogs enable officers to locate contraband without incurring unnecessary risks or wasting limited time and resources.

Id. at 1057. The Court further found:

In short, a probable-cause hearing focusing on a dog's alert should proceed much like any other. The court should allow the parties to make their best case, consistent with the usual rules of criminal procedure. And the court should then evaluate the proffered evidence to decide what all the circumstances demonstrate. If the State has produced proof from controlled settings that a dog performs reliably in detecting drugs, and the defendant has not contested that showing, then the court should find probable cause. If, in contrast, the defendant has challenged the State's case (by disputing the reliability of the dog overall or of a particular alert), then the court should weigh the competing evidence. In all events, the court should not prescribe, as the Florida Supreme Court did, an inflexible set of evidentiary requirements. The question—similar to every inquiry into probable cause—is whether all the facts surrounding a dog's alert, viewed through the lens of common sense, would make a reasonably prudent person think that a search would reveal contraband or evidence of a crime.

Id. at 1058.

As was the case in White and Harris, Misty's reliability was readily apparent due to her impressive training credentials and zero error rate. Misty completed a six-week training course at Kasseburg Canine in New Market, Alabama, as well as additional training with the State Fire Marshall's Office in Austin, Texas. Misty received certifications from both programs. Misty was also certified by the North American Police Work Dog Association and had been re-certified by that organization every year at the time of trial. Investigator Gonzalez noted Misty had worked one-hundred-forty-two fire scenes with him and had never had a false alert. All of this provides demonstrative proof of controlled settings where Misty performed reliably due to her extensive

training. Misty's reliability in the case was further bolstered by the laboratory test's confirmation of the presence of accelerant. Strangely, Appellant blatantly ignores the laboratory's confirmatory testing of the slippers when making her argument that Misty's alert was unreliable.

Appellant cites the time interval between the fire and Misty's search of the home as cause to find her alert unreliable. Appellant contends the "release" of the home to Servpro contaminated the scene to the point of tainting all of the incriminating evidence found in the home. This argument is directly refuted by the testimony of Investigators Cannon and Gonzalez, who both stated that at the time of their arrival at the home, the Servpro employee was in the garage and it did not appear that the clean-up process had begun. Furthermore, Agent Fletcher clarified the accelerant would stay on the shoes for several days. A gap of a few hours between the fire and Misty's alert does nothing to dispel the definitiveness of the liquid still being present. Appellant asserts photographs appearing to show the slippers moved several inches prove the scene was contaminated; however, on cross-examination by Defense Counsel, William Brooks noted he could not tell whether the shoes moved a few inches. Upon further interrogation by Defense Counsel, Brooks stated, "I don't know that I would be concerned about possible contamination if a shoe is moved four or five inches." R. p. 783. As noted by Brooks, it is unclear whether the shoes moved, however a movement of a few inches does little to affect the presence of the accelerant on Appellant's slippers or otherwise taint the crime scene. While Appellant's argument concerning scene contamination may have made for effective cross-examination, there is not such evidence of contamination that would affect the reliability of Misty's alert or the admissibility of the evidence at trial.

As conceded by Appellant, a number of other jurisdictions have found accelerant detection dog alerts to be reliable. See State v. Buller, 517 N.W.2d 711 (1994) (finding

foundational requirements were met concerning accelerant detection dog's alert where the dog was sufficiently reliable, despite fact that later laboratory testing proved inconclusive); Yell v. Commonwealth, 242 S.W.3d 331, 336-337 (2007) ("As to Robert's claim that the evidence of PJ's alerts to the presence of accelerants at the fire scene was unreliable because it was contradicted by the negative results of the lab testing of the samples, we believe that there was a sufficient showing of reliability to allow the evidence despite the negative laboratory results."); State v. Schultz, 58 P.3d 879 (2002) (finding use of canines to help detect the presence of accelerants as an investigative tool is generally accepted within the fire investigation community, and therefore expert testimony concerning use of canines for that purpose will typically be admissible if helpful to trier of fact. Use of canines to determine accelerant use in the absence of laboratory testing is that testimony is subject to threshold showing of reliability as novel scientific evidence). In the present case, Misty's alert was particularly reliable where the showing of her training and reliability was accompanied with a confirmatory laboratory test.

Finally, any alleged error in admitting evidence of Misty's "alert" to the presence of accelerants is harmless where the State later presented laboratory testing confirming the presence of ignitable liquids on Appellant's slippers. When other properly admitted testimony reveals essentially the same information, the jury's exposure to improper evidence is harmless. State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 554-55 (2001). Appellant makes no argument concerning the admissibility or reliability of the laboratory testing, nor does she make any argument that Misty's alert failed to provide probable cause for the State to seize and test Appellant's slippers. The laboratory testing revealed the same fact as Misty's alert: that there was an ignitable liquid on Appellant's slippers. Therefore, the evidence was merely cumulative

to the properly admissible testimony of Agent Fletcher who discussed the positive laboratory tests of Appellant's slippers. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.